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WITNESS IDENTIFICATION 1 

Q. What is your name and business address? 2 

A. My name is Darin Burk. My business address is 527 E. Capitol Avenue, Springfield, IL. 3 

Q.  Are you the same Darin Burk who previously filed direct testimony?  4 

A. Yes, I presented ICC Staff Exhibit 12.0 5 

Q.  What recommendations did you make in your direct testimony? 6 

A. To assure that subsequent to the merger, Nicor Gas Company (“Nicor”) remains 7 

compliant with the Minimum Federal Safety Standards and the Illinois Gas Pipeline 8 

Safety Act, I recommended that the Commission impose six conditions on Nicor upon 9 

the merger:  10 

 1. With regard to the corrosion control and the current staffing levels, I identified a 11 

list of specific positions (Staff Ex. 12.0, p. 20) for which the Commission should order 12 

AGL Resources (“AGL”) to maintain staffing at or above the current levels. The 13 

Commission should further order each position to remain in the Illinois operations offices 14 

for a minimum of ten (10) years.  15 

 2. With regard to the Technical Compliance Department and the current staffing 16 

 level, I identified a list of specific positions (Id., p. 21) for the Commission should order 17 

AGL to maintain staffing of each position at or above the current levels. The Commission 18 

should further order each position to remain in the Illinois operations offices for a 19 

minimum of ten (10) years.  20 

 3. With regard to the Locating Services Department and the “Watch and Protect” 21 

program, I identified a list of specific positions (Id.) for which the Commission should 22 

order AGL to maintain staffing of each position at or above the current levels. The 23 

Commission should further order each position to remain in the Illinois operations offices 24 

for a minimum of ten (10) years. 25 
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 3. With regard to the Transmission Integrity Management Program, I identified a list 26 

of specific positions (Id., p. 22), for which the Commission should order AGL to maintain 27 

staffing of each position at or above the current levels. The Commission should further 28 

order each position to remain in the Illinois operations offices for a minimum of ten (10) 29 

years. 30 

 4. With regard to the Distribution Integrity Management Program, I identified a list of 31 

specific positions (Id., pp. 22-23), for which the Commission should order AGL to 32 

maintain staffing of each position at or above the current levels. The Commission should 33 

further order each position to remain in the Illinois operations offices for a minimum of 34 

ten (10) years. 35 

 5. The Commission should further order that AGL seek approval by the 36 

Commission for any reductions in staffing levels to the positions identified above or 37 

relocation of those positions. Reassignment of any task relating to code compliance 38 

activity implementation or compliance monitor, to a position held outside the State of 39 

Illinois, should also require Commission approval. 40 

Q. Are you changing your recommendations? 41 

A. Yes. 42 

Q. What is the purpose of your rebuttal testimony? 43 

A. I am responding to points made by Joint Applicants’ witness, Mr. Richard Lonn, in his 44 

 rebuttal testimony. 45 

Q.  Can you summarize what Mr. Lonn said in his rebuttal testimony regarding  your 46 

recommendation? 47 
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A. Mr. Lonn points out that I only use one performance indicator when comparing the 48 

performance of Nicor to AGL.  He also focuses on the difference in enforcement 49 

approaches used by various State regulatory programs.  He points out that several 50 

metrics can be used as indicators of an operator’s performance.  He states that using 51 

the indicators he has chosen, AGL exceeds the performance of Nicor.  He states that I 52 

made my recommendations to the Commission based on inappropriate comparisons 53 

based on compliance history.  He states that reporting requirements and enforcement 54 

practices vary by State and that my conclusions were not based on an “apples to apples” 55 

comparison. 56 

Q. Do you agree with Mr. Lonn? 57 

A.  No. 58 

Q.  Please explain your position. 59 

A. I agree that several different metrics can be used to measure an operator’s 60 

 performance.  He discusses metrics such as: Damages per 1000 locate tickets, 61 

 number of excess flow valves installed, corrosion leaks and damages per mile of gas 62 

 facilities, the amount of unprotected steel and copper services remaining in the 63 

 system, and percentage of bare steel and cast iron main replaced.   64 

 Mr. Lonn points out that using the violations issued relating to damage prevention, is an 65 

inadequate comparison since Illinois does not require the reporting of third party damage 66 

to customer service lines.  In fact, the data provided demonstrates that Nicor received 67 

more damages per 1000 locate requests in 2010 than ALG.  Mr. Lonn reports that Nicor 68 

experienced 3.91 damages per 1000 locate requests and AGL experienced 3.61 69 

damages per 1000 located requests. (JA Ex. 12.0)  The data does not necessarily 70 

demonstrate acceptable compliance with applicable damage prevention requirements, 71 
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nor does it demonstrate non-compliance with the requirements.  It demonstrates that 72 

Nicor experiences a similar number of damages as AGL.  I will concede that the fact that 73 

Nicor is not required to report the damages negates the assumption that Nicor out 74 

performs AGL using that indicator.  Nevertheless, the fact that Nicor does not report the 75 

damages does not indicate that Nicor committed a similar number of violations of the 76 

applicable damage prevention requirements. 77 

 Mr. Lonn also states that enforcement practices vary from state to state.  I agree with 78 

that statement.  However, the methods used to determine compliance are very similar.  If 79 

the damage prevention related violations are removed from the discussion, the 80 

remainder of the issues discussed in my direct testimony relate to 49 Code of Federal 81 

Regulations (“CFR”) Part 192 requirements.  In a comparable time period, Nicor was 82 

issued a Notice of Probable Violation (“NOPV”) of the CFR requirements on 3 occasions 83 

and AGL was issued a NOPV on 65 occasions. 84 

As stated above, Mr. Lonn discusses performance indicators at length in his testimony.  85 

The purpose of my direct testimony was to present Staff’s position regarding the direct 86 

testimony of Gerald P. O’Connor, Joint Applicants Ex. 6.0, Section V, as it relates to the 87 

Joint Applicants’ ability to meet the requirements of Section 7-204(b)(5) of the Illinois 88 

Public Utilities Act. Section 7-204(b)(5) requires that the utility remain subject to all 89 

applicable laws, regulations, rules, decisions and policies governing the regulation of 90 

Illinois public utilities.  I specifically discussed my review of how AGL and Nicor planned 91 

to ensure long term compliance with the federal standards codified under 49 CFR 92 

Sections 191, 192, 193, and 199 and adopted by the State of Illinois pursuant to 83 Ill. 93 

Adm. Code 590, regarding pipeline safety.  I found the plan deficient since it did not 94 

specifically address any specific issues. The plan only stated that existing programs will 95 

remain in place for a period of three years. 96 



Docket No. 11-0046 
ICC Staff Exhibit 18.0 

6 
 

I chose to review compliance data rather than performance indicators as Mr. Lonn 97 

suggests.  With the exception of damage prevention, none of the indicators chosen by 98 

Mr. Lonn were code requirements prior to 2010.  (The federal regulations now require 99 

operators to install an excess flow valve on single customer residential service line, but 100 

the requirement did not previously exist.)   101 

By using the violations issued under 49 CFR, I reviewed actual compliance data rather 102 

than proactive program indicators.  The data indicated that the existing programs in 103 

place at Nicor have allowed the operator to remain generally in compliance with the CFR 104 

for several years. 105 

Mr. Lonn implies that the reason for the higher number of NOPVs issued to AGL, is a 106 

result of differing enforcement policy by the individual states.  That may be a correct 107 

statement when discussing the enforcement of damage prevention requirements, but I 108 

would disagree regarding issues related to the Title 49 CFR requirements.  Pipeline 109 

Safety Programs follow federal guidelines.  The inspectors and program managers are 110 

trained as to the requirements of the CFR and enforcement process by the U.S. DOT 111 

Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration (“PHMSA”) Training and 112 

Qualification section.  State programs are inspected annually by PHMSA to verify that 113 

the programs are conducted in a manner consistent with the federal guidelines, including 114 

enforcement procedures. 115 

The majority of the violations issued to AGL were issued by the states of Georgia and 116 

Virginia.  I am personally acquainted with individuals that managed those programs for 117 

the time period discussed.  I frequently discuss enforcement policy with both individuals. 118 

Based upon my familiarity with enforcement policy in those states, I conclude that 119 

Illinois, Georgia and Virginia have similar enforcement philosophy and procedures, in 120 

that NOPVs are actively used as an enforcement tool.  The use of civil penalty 121 
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assessments differs from state to state, but I did not use penalty assessment data in my 122 

comparison. 123 

Q. What is your concern relating to post acquisition compliance with the applicable 124 

regulations? 125 

A. Nicor has put several quality assurance and compliance verification processes in place 126 

to address past issues.  As I state in my direct testimony, local knowledge of the 127 

operating pipeline systems is a key factor in managing the integrity of the system and 128 

risk mitigation. (Staff Ex. 12.0, p. 13) Local knowledge allows for verification of risk 129 

model results, development and implementation of measures to reduce localized risks, 130 

and maintaining liaison with stakeholders that may contribute to the risk, or assist the 131 

operator in reducing the risk.  I believe it is essential that the Commission ensure that 132 

local control of Nicor operations remain in place for a specified period of time.  133 

Q. Have you discussed your concerns with the Joint Applicants? 134 

A. Yes, the Joint Applicants have indicated that they will agree with my supplemental 135 

recommendations. 136 

Q. What supplemental recommendations are you submitting to the Commission? 137 

A. The Commission should order the following: 138 

 A. The Joint Applicants will commit for a period of 5 years following the closing of 139 

 the proposed transaction to: 140 

1) Maintain in Illinois the number of positions set forth in my Direct 141 

Testimony (Staff Ex. 12.0, pp. 20-23), and as further clarified in Joint 142 

Applicants’ Ex. 12.2 (51 FTEs and 24 partial); 143 

2) Maintain in Illinois management personnel directly responsible for the 144 

 day-to-day supervision of the positions identified in paragraph 1; 145 

3) At a minimum, maintain in Illinois, the current level of training and quality 146 

 assurance programs for compliance monitoring activities; and 147 
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4) Meet with the Commission Staff’s Pipeline Safety Program Manager, or 148 

 his designee(s), to discuss any proposed material change(s) to the job 149 

 duties for any of the positions identified in paragraph 1. 150 

 151 

B. Within 90 days prior to the completion of the 5 year period of commitments for 152 

items A(1) and A(2) set forth above, Nicor Gas will file with the Commission a 153 

Petition to determine whether Nicor Gas’ performance concerning pipeline safety 154 

issues is reasonably comparable to pre-reorganization levels at Nicor Gas, or 155 

requires an extension of the commitment period beyond 5 years.  Nicor Gas will 156 

include with this Petition a “Report on Performance” that will evaluate and 157 

compare Nicor Gas’ pipeline safety performance during the period subsequent to 158 

closing the proposed transaction with Nicor Gas’ performance prior to closing the 159 

proposed transaction.  The Report on Performance will be used to assess 160 

whether Nicor Gas’ performance is reasonably comparable, or that an extension 161 

of the commitment period is necessary for items A(1) and A(2) above. 162 

 163 

C. 60 days prior to filing the Petition, Nicor Gas will meet with the Commission 164 

Staff’s Pipeline Safety Program Manager, or his designee(s), to discuss and 165 

review Nicor Gas’ pipeline safety performance and the draft Petition. 166 

Q. Does this conclude your testimony? 167 

A. Yes, it does. 168 


